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ADDENDUM NO. 2 February 25, 2019 
 
Janitorial Services 
#C04910719 

Public Building Authority 
912 South Gay Street, Suite 700 

Knoxville, Tennessee 37902 
 
To all respondents to whom a Request for Proposals has been received.  This Addendum forms 
part of the Request for Proposals.  It supplements and modifies them as follows: 
 

A. There was an error found on the Addendum 1 spreadsheet titled “PBA Managed 
Properties” regarding Corryton Library.  It should note that “one night cleaner” is 
required for this location. 

 
 

B. Questions & Answers from Pre-Proposal Meeting 
 

1. Question: What are the current cleaning times for the libraries? 
 
Answer: Except as noted in Section VI of the RFP for Lawson McGhee Library the 

services are provided after the daily operating hours.  Please review  
"Schedule A" provided in the RFP for days of service and the spreadsheet  
in Addendum 1 titled "PBA Managed Properties" that also provides  
insight into whether there are day cleaners (porters) or night cleaners or  
both. There is an error on the Addendum 1 spreadsheet regarding   
Corryton Library.  It should state that there is one "night cleaner" for this  
location.  You may visit the Knox County Libraries website for there  
operating hours and days posted.   
(See https://www.knoxlib.org/about/hours-and-locations ) Note: the  
"Bearden Branch" on the website is what PBA refers to as the West  
Knoxville Library.  Also, the "Murphy Library Branch is not serviced under  
this contract.   

 
2. Question: We are bonded as a company, however, does each employee have to be 

bonded individually? (See page 49 B.4) 
 
        Answer: Under Section XI, B. Firm's Qualifications, item #5 (Page 39, B.5), the  

intent is that the PBA is covered for any incidental damage, theft or loss  

https://www.knoxlib.org/about/hours-and-locations
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to PBA facilities or property due to the actions or inactions of the Firm's  
employees.  This is generally referred to as a "Janitorial Services Surety".  
Firms should consult their bond provider to discuss whether they have  
proper coverage. 
 

3. Question: Are there restrictions in the Tennessee Code Annotated € 62-6-119 that  
would restrict a company located outside of Tennessee from submitting a  
bid and being awarded the subsequent contract.  

 
             Answer: It is our understanding and PBA’s legal stance that this portion of the  

code is referring to “construction related” types of services.  Janitorial  
Service Providers and such are not limited under this provision.   
Therefore, a Janitorial Service Provider from out of the State of TN would  
be eligible to submit a proposal and could be awarded such. 

 
4. Question:  Are there any specifics on the references required (i.e. duration and 

recency of the contract)? 
 

       Answer: We are asking for 3 non-PBA references.  Those references should be  
current references and should include at minimum the name of the  
business, name of the contact, provide an email and phone number.   
Additional information such as the nature of the work done, duration of  
the relationship and the amount of square footage maintained may be  
added as supplemental information.   

 
5. Question: Are "Out of State" contractors required to complete a Tax Exemption 

certificate as well? 
 
        Answer: No.  “Section II, D. Taxes” refers to the PBA Tax exemption form that we  

supply to firms.  This does not refer to a form the Firms complete. 
 

6. Question: Will PBA award the entire project to 1 contractor of make multiple  
awards such as the current contract which contains 3 contractors. 

 
        Answer: PBA has not made any pre-determined decisions on how we intend to  

award.  Those decisions are based upon the evaluations of the proposals  
and what is in the best interest of PBA. 
 

7. Question: If the Bidder is 100% Minority Business may we bid a 100% Prime  
Contractor with an effort to subcontract 10% of the effort to another  
minority contractor for a 90/10 split? 

 
        Answer: No.  “Section III, C. Assignment” prohibits subcontracting out any part of 

the pending contract. 
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8. Question: May we propose an online Invoicing System to PBA that we currently  
utilized such as Quick Books to submit to PBA Financial Department? 

 
         Answer: PBA has received Quick Books links from other firms for invoicing.  This  

has not been an issue.  PBA receives invoices from many firms and  
seldom have we had an issue with receiving an invoice.  PBA will make 

 reasonable attempts to accommodate a firm’s invoicing practices.  PBA  
encourages sending invoices electronically by email in PDF format. 

 
9. Question: If we are understanding this clause (“Section III, BB. Price Adjustments”) 

basically, we can request an increase each year for wage increase based  
on COI? 
 

        Answer: Yes, the firm does have a right to request an annual price increase at  
least 90 days in advance of the contract term date.  This does not  
guarantee acceptance by PBA.  PBA bases its annual budgets on its  
current pricing, market research and through communications with firms.   
If negotiations are unsuccessful with a firm PBA at its sole discretion may  
choose to re-bid any or all properties at that time. 

 
10. Question: Please clarify if the contractor is able to get a customer survey form  

completed on a quarterly basis from the corporate office? 
 
        Answer: A PBA Contract Representative will be the direct contact regarding all  

issues with PBA.  Deficiencies of performance and other Quality Control  
measures will be communicated and go through the PBA Contract  
Representative.  PBA has stated clearly the QA measures the successful  
firm will be expected to follow.  No other building occupant can make  
binding statements on behalf of PBA.  Absolutely, no questionnaires will  
be allowed to be distributed to anyone outside the PBA Contract  
Representative. 
 

11. Question: Please provide the actual staffing shifts that are cleared to work (FT/ PT)? 
    This helps us calculate seniority rates, etc.  PBA gracefully provided  

staffing however no distinction of FT vs PT. 
 
         Answer: Unless detailed in Section VI. Buildings, staffing is predominantly PT with  

hours to be determined by the successful Firm(s) with a focus on  
complying with the PBA Scope found in Section IV.  Firms are encouraged  
to review all information supplied by PBA and located on the PBA 
website. 
 

12. Question: Please clarify if we are allow(ed) 2-way radios as well as cell phones for  
communications? 
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         Answer: Two-way radios and cell phones are allowed where feasible. 
 

13. Question: Will the contractor get adequate office space and large storage space in  
addition to storage for each building location? 

 
         Answer: There is some office/storage space allotted to janitorial providers in  

some but not all PBA properties.  The successful firm will be required to  
make other arrangements if the spaces provided are insufficient for their 
needs or if there is no office/storage space present. 
 

14. Question: Please provide the current project schedule showing the frequency of  
services such as 1)carpet cleaning, 2)stripping/waxing, etc.? 

 
        Answer: Interested firms should read thoroughly the RFP and the scope before  

submitting proposals.  Periodic floor work is not a part of this RFP for  
Janitorial Services.  Firms interested in providing Floor Maintenance  
Services should make a separate proposal in response to the RFP for  
Floor Maintenance Services located on the PBA website currently. 
 

15. Question: Please provide the list of current subcontractors (if any) for the ground 
maintenance portion of the requirement so that we may inquire for  
quotes? 

 
        Answer: Interested firms should read thoroughly the RFP and the scope before  

submitting proposals.  Grounds work is not a part of this RFP for  
Janitorial Services.   

 
16. Question: Please provide a copy of the previous solicitation for this service. 

 
Answer: PBA has never separated out Janitorial Services from Floor Maintenance  

Services before now.  The previous RFP for Janitorial Services done in  
2014 included Floor Maintenance Services.  Firms may find both the  
current RFP for the Janitorial Services and the RFP for the Floor  
Maintenance Services on its website.  Firms interested in submitting 
responses to both may, but must submit separate, full submittals with 
each within the submittal requirements provided for each.  The last RFP is 
inconsequential and would only serve to confuse those interested in 
submitting for the new solicitations.  

 
17. Question: Please indicate if there are any pre-existing performance issues? 

 
Answer: PBA is conducting this solicitation process due to the pending expiration 

of the existing contracts for Janitorial Services as required by law.  When 
performance issues arise, the firm is expected to resolve these 
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immediately.  The successful firms will not be evaluated on any existing 
deficiencies of current firm(s) but will be expected to meet the 
specifications as outlined by PBA in this RFP.   

 
18. Question: Is there parking provided for the Cleaning Staff at each location? What  

about Loading Docks for deliveries of medium to large equipment &  
materials? 

 
        Answer: Not all buildings have loading docks.  Firms will need to make  

arrangements with delivery companies for the appropriate needs by  
building.  Parking is available but limited.  Limited parking for Day Porters  
in downtown Knoxville properties is available at “Employee Rates” at a  
nearby garage/lot.  The current “Employee Rate” is $30/month.  There  
are no parking charges for evening/night cleaners. 

 
19. Question: Does the contractor have the flexibility (within reason) to propose a  

different cleaning time (i.e. work schedule) so as long as it meets the  
hours of operations & performance measures? 

 
        Answer: Yes.  Unless otherwise stated already.  Where possible, PBA may  

negotiate but retains the sole right to set regular cleaning schedules. 
 

20. Question: Has the incumbent successfully serve the full 4/5 years of the current  
contract with no performance issues? 

 
         Answer: No.  All contractors have had performance failures in the past at one time  

or another.  Three of the four original awardees of the last PBA  
solicitation for Janitorial Services are still active. Also, PBA assumed a 
cleaning contract from the City of Knoxville with the Cleaning Force in 
February 2017 for new properties now part of PBA portfolio.   
 

21. Question: Please provide an inventory of current equipment on site that has been  
approved for performance? 

 
        Answer: PBA does not keep an inventory of their Janitorial Services provider’s  

owned equipment but reserves the right to inspect all equipment  
provided by the successful firm(s). 
 

22. Question: Please provide the building population for each location so that we  
(may) perform a consumption rate of paper products, etc.? 

 
        Answer: See Addendum I on PBA’s website. 
 

23. Question: Please provide the total number & location of "Exercise Equipment" to be  
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serviced?

Answer: There is exercise equipment located at various PBA managed building.
Users of the equipment are responsible for sanitizing and cleaning the 
equipment. Successful Janitorial Service providers should treat exercise
equipment like furniture or shelving and dust horizontally as required.

24. Question: Please provide a detailed floor plan of each location to be serviced (if
possible)?

Answer: See Addendum I, Question/Answer #5.

25. Question: Does any of the facilities contain a "Centralized Trash pickup Spots" and if
so please specify?

Answer: Garages/parking lots are the only PBA sites where trash must be
transported to a reasonably convenient off-site receptacle.

26. Question: There are several locations such as Justice centers, etc. that may not be
fully accessible at specific cleaning times so how does PBA KNOX look at 
this matter? Non-Performance, Re-Schedule, etc.?

Answer: All required service duties, schedules and access are designed and
approved for completion. Successful firm(s) following the day/night 
schedule  will  prevent  most “other” issues  from  occurring. Immediate 
communication  between  the  firm and  the  PBA  Contract  Representative 
will quickly address unusual circumstances. In these cases, the contractor 
may be directed by PBA on a case by case basis.  Otherwise, all schedules
are expected to be followed according to the scope of this RFP.

27. Question: Will the Start Date of July 1, 2019 hold as posted?

Answer: It is PBA’s current intent to adhere to the schedules set forth in this RFP. 
 

 
END OF ADDENDUM 2 
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